**RECEIVED**

**Apr 21 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**Certiorari -PCR- Greenville County  
Court of Common Pleas  
Alex Kinlaw, Jr. Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2019-000907  
Lower Case No. 2017-CP-23-5901**

---

**Jerald D. Gaskins, Jr.#00362923 ..... Petitioner,**

**v.**

**State of South Carolina ..... Respondent.**

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

**C. RAUCH WISE  
Attorney at Law  
305 Main Street  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 229-5010  
S.C. Bar No. 6188**

**Attorney for Petitioner**

#

### **Statement of Issues Presented**

I. Did the Post Conviction Relief Court err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper cross-examination of Jerald Gaskins when the prosecutor was permitted to ask Mr. Gaskins improper questions on cross-examination?

II. Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find that trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to object to the expert testimony of Officer Robert Perry as to delayed disclosure when the officer had not been qualified as an expert?

III. Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to hold trial counsel to be ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper vouching for the credibility of the complaining witness?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### *Procedural History*

On February 4-5, 2015, Jerald D. Gaskins went to trial on four counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor and two counts of a lewd act upon a minor child. He was convicted on all six charges. The judge sentenced him to 20 years for the criminal sexual conduct with a minor on these charges and 15 years on one count of a lewd act upon a minor child with all sentences to run concurrently. The judge sentenced him to five years on charge of a lewd act with that sentence to run consecutively to the other charges.

He filed a timely notice of appeal on February 13, 2015. On April 19, 2017, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction. The Court of Appeals discussed the issue of other bad acts under Rule 404b of the South Carolina Rules of evidence. The court affirmed this issue based upon *State v. Wallace*, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009). The Court of Appeals also affirmed the issue of improper cross-examination by the solicitor on the ground the issue was not properly preserved.

On September 14, 2017, Mr. Gaskins filed a Post Conviction Relief petition dated August 29, 2017. He filed an amended Petition on September 14, 2018 and October 25, 2018. The hearing was held on October 25, 2018. By Order dated February 1, 2019, Judge Alex Kinlaw denied the Petition. A timely Rule 59 Motion dated February 19, 2019, was filed on March 8, 2019. The Motion was denied on March 4, 2019 and filed on March 5, 2019. The Order was received by counsel on May 30, 2019. App. at 795. A Notice of Intent to Appeal was filed on the same date.

On March 16, 2022, this Court granted the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to the

improper cross-examination of Mr. Gaskins, the expert opinion testimony of the officer when he as not qualified as an expert, and the testimony was vouching for the credibility of the minor child by two witnesses.

## ARGUMENT

### Question I

**Did the Post Conviction Relief Court err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper cross-examination of Jerald Gaskins when the prosecutor was permitted to ask Mr. Gaskins improper questions on cross-examination?**

*Failure of trial counsel to object to questions about text messages improperly attributed to Walt Mucienko, the father of the complaining witness<sup>1</sup>*

Mr. Gaskins first contends that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to questions by the prosecutor concerning text messages allegedly sent by Mr. Gaskins. App. at 432, 117 to 433, 125. The messages were introduced at the Post Conviction Relief hearing as Applicant's Exhibit 1. The State began their cross examination of Mr. Gaskins referencing text messages the State claimed were between Mr. Gaskins and Walt Mucienko, the father of the complaining witness. The cross-examination began with Mr. Gaskins denying that the phone number 561-7021 was in fact his number. App. 424, 11 19-20. At the trial, The State never offered any testimony that the number was in fact registered to or used by Mr. Gaskins. Nor did

---

<sup>1</sup> The first three issues involved text messages that were introduced by Mr. Gaskins at the PCR hearing. Exhibit № 1 can be referred to as the "Mucienko messages." Exhibit № 2 can be referred to as the "Jamie messages." Exhibit № 3 can be referred to as the "Jay Fowler messages."

the State call Mr. Mucienko to verify the messages. At the Post Conviction Relief hearing, Mr. Gaskins' attorney called Mr. Mucienko as a witness. He denied ever texting Mr. Gaskins or having any conversation with him after the accusations were brought against Mr. Gaskins. App. at 650, l 5 to 651, l 24. At the trial, Mr. Gaskins denied ever texting Mr. Mucienko and continued to deny the phone number was his phone. App. 425, ll 2-24. The substance of the text messages is that Mr. Gaskins was asking Mr. Mucienko to drop the charges against him.

Trial counsel finally made an objection as to foundation which was sustained. App. 426, ll 6-23. During a non-jury discussion concerning these text messages, the State represented that the text messages were provided by Mrs. Mucienko, the wife of Walt Mucienko. The State represented that she could verify the authenticity of text messages and the fact that the phone number in question was the number of Mr. Gaskins. App. at 428, ll 8-14. These text messages, introduced at the PCR hearing as Applicants Exhibit 1, had not been provided to defense counsel in discovery and he so testified at the Post Conviction Relief hearing. App. at 722, l 23 to 723, l 9. After the objection and conference, the cross examination of Mr. Gaskins as to the text messages continued and Mr. Gaskins continued to deny having sent any text messages to Mr. Mucienko. Mr. Gaskins testified he cut all ties to the Mucienko family after his arrest on November 14, 2012. App. at 433, ll 22-25.

At the trial, defense counsel offered no further objections to the cross-examination of the text messages. The State never called Mr. or Ms. Mucienko to verify the text messages. The State never called the cell phone provider to establish that the number belonged to Mr. Gaskins. Based upon the testimony at the Post Conviction relief trial, if the defense counsel had properly objected to the questioning based upon the text messages, the State would never have been able

to establish a basis for asking the questions as the messages were not an exchange between Mr. Mucienko and Mr. Gaskins. Mr. Mucienko denied the phone number was his, the cell phone company was his or that he had sent and received those texts from Mr. Gaskins. App. at 650, 110 to 651, 122.

These questions were prejudicial to Mr. Gaskins. The State, with no basis for such questions, portrayed Mr. Gaskins as a liar when he denied sending the text messages to Mr. Mucienko. This was a direct attack upon the credibility of Mr. Gaskins. At the Post Conviction Relief hearing, the testimony of Mr. Mucienko proved Mr. Gaskins was telling the truth at his trial. Trial counsel was capable of providing the same testimony at the trial of Mr. Gaskins had trial counsel investigated the text messages or simply interviewed Mr. Mucienko.

As one Court noted “Although a prosecutor may impeach a witness on the basis of prior inconsistent statements, Fed.R.Evid. 613(a), a prosecutor may not use impeachment as a guise for submitting to the jury substantive evidence that is otherwise unavailable.” *United States v. Silverstein*, 737 F.2d 864, 868 (10th Cir. 1984); *State v. McGuire*, 272 S.C. 547, 550, 253 S.E.2d 103, 105 (1979)(“Counsel should not be permitted to go on a fishing expedition in hopes of finding some misconduct involving moral turpitude by a witness. Merely asking a question that has no basis in fact may be prejudicial.”); *State v. Creason*, 847 S.W.2d 482, 486 (Mo. Ct. App. 1993) (“On the other hand, there are limits to the scope of cross-examination. The prosecutor transcends those limits when the questions are asked merely for the purpose of improperly showing other crimes or for the purpose of going into collateral details. There is a general requirement of fairness in cross-examination, and if there is no reasonable basis on which to base such a cross-examination, it should not be made.”)(internal citations omitted) The evidence at

the Post Conviction Relief hearing established that a proper objection to the cross-examination would have been sustained. The father of the complaining witness did not engage in a text message exchange with Mr. Gaskins. The sole purpose of this cross-examination of Mr. Gaskins was to impeach his character through improper means. Trial counsel should have made an objection to prevent the improper cross-examination.

The Post Conviction Relief judge erroneously ruled that the performance of trial counsel on this issue was sufficient. No facts in the record sustain this conclusion. The Court of Appeals ruled that this issue was not preserved. App. at 618. If the issue is not preserved, counsel was ineffective. The PCR judge noted that Walt Mucienko denied sending the text messages. App. at 766. He made no finding as to whether Mr. Mucienko was credible or not. Such a finding would have been crucial to the admissibility and to the prejudice as to the cross-examination.

*Failure of trial counsel to object to improper cross-examination of by use of alleged text messages to the sister of complaining witness*

In further cross-examination of Mr. Gaskins, the State asked Mr. Gaskins about an alleged text message to the sister of the complaining witness in this case. App. at 435, 16 to 439, 12. Mr. Gaskins at trial and in the Post Conviction Relief hearing testified he did not send the texts. The text messages were not introduced at trial. Mr. Gaskins introduced the messages as applicant's Exhibit 2. Trial counsel, testified that he received the pictures of the text messages the day before trial. App. at App. at 718, ll 14-18.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> In the original Petition for Certiorari, Mr. Gaskins inadvertently made stated that these pictures of the text messages with the sister, applicant's exhibit 2, were not given to defense counsel. Exhibit № 2 was given to defense counsel the day before trial. Applicants Exhibit Nos 1

Mr. Gaskins testified that upon reviewing the text messages in detail, he noticed many abnormalities that bring the source of the texts into question. While the phone does have the name “Jerald” on the screen, the times on the screen and the times on the messages do not match. The screen times are from 11:18 A.M. until 11:36 A.M.. The times on the messages are from 2:19 A.M. September 30 until October 23 at 11:13 P.M.. The only possible explanation is the messages were forwarded from another phone. The source of that phone was not given at trial. This factual inaccuracy can only be determined from a close examination of the texts. As they were provided to trial counsel, only the day before trial, neither he nor Mr. Gaskins had an adequate opportunity to examine them in detail prior to trial. App. at 718, ll 14-23. Under Rule 5 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, the State is required to provide the defendant with the statements of the defendant. The rules requires disclosure of “any relevant written or recorded statements made by the defendant.” The text messages certainly qualify as a written or recorded statement. Mr. Gaskins was given a copy of the texts before the Post Conviction Relief hearing to review. He did not have an adequate opportunity to review them before the trial. App. 653, l 18 to 654, l 5.

The text messages in Exhibit № 2, also contain references that would clearly indicate they were not from Mr. Gaskins. For example, on the 11:22 A.M. text, the statement is made “Hey tell momma that me and [complaining witness] are going to the movies if she needs me ill only answer the phone for yall.” App. at 662, ll 18-20. Mr. Gaskins denied he sent such a message. He pointed out that the reference to “momma” would certainly not have been to his own mother

---

and 3 were not provided to defense counsel. He did not see those exhibits until the Post Conviction Relief hearing. App. at 722, ll 15-25; 723, l 24 to 724, l 5.

and appears to be a reference to the complaining witness's mother. He also pointed out that on October 7 at 10:23 the text says "Thats good. Just wanted to say we should have one more cool out befor I go to new york." App. at 666, ll 3-4. Mr. Gaskins stated he had never been to New York and had never made plans to go to New York. He stated the brother of the complaining witness, however, had in fact been to New York and moved there around the time of the text.

He also pointed out the text of October 8 at 4:13. In response to "wyd" [what are you doing] the text is "Painting and waiting to pic up [complaining witness] from school. What are you doing?" App. at 663, ll 15-17. Mr. Gaskins stated he had never picked up the complaining witness from school and he does not paint except for painting rooms or houses. He stated the complaining witness's brother does paint in the artistic sense. App. at 663, l 25 to 664, l 6.

On the text following the text of October 13, at 11:52 A.M., the message is "I thought we hot straight last nite about bowling so why are u telling mom I didn't invite u this is BS Jamie [sister of complaining witness] and you know it. Who catches all the hell, Not you." App. at 664, ll 20-23. Mr. Gaskins testified that again this message would not have come from him as the reference in the text is to "mom." In the context of the conversation the reference would not have been to the mother of Mr. Gaskins. He also pointed out that again on the text message of October 13 at 12:00 PM makes no sense if the reference to "mom" is his mother.

These text messages were obviously prejudicial to Mr. Gaskins. The implication sought to be placed upon them by the State is that he was constantly texting about the complaining witness. The messages gave credibility to the testimony of the complaining witness. Many of these same texts were referred to during the direct testimony of the sister of the complaining witness. While defense counsel made an objection, it was overruled. The testimony was that the

sister had received the messages and she took pictures of her phone with her Ipad. App. at 111, ll 1-2. Her testimony suggests the pictures taken with Ipad were made before this case arose. App. at 111, ll 6-8.

This also raises a serious question as to the authenticity of the text messages. Mr. Gaskins was arrested on November 14, 2012. App. at 442, ll 17-22. This case was tried in February of 2015. The testimony at the trial was the photos of the text messages were not provided to the prosecution in this case until the actual trial of the case. These messages in Exhibit № 2 were turned over to the trial counsel the day the trial started. For over 27 months the sister of the complaining witness held on to the photos which, according to her testimony, she saved because this day may come.<sup>3</sup> There was no explanation at trial or the Post Conviction Relief hearing as to why she waited 27 months to disclose she had the photographs of the texts when she claimed the photographs were taken for the purpose of helping a prosecution. App. at 111, ll 6-8. Interestingly, the Ipad was also not brought to the trial for defense counsel to examine. At the Post Conviction Relief hearing, the State never explained the source of these text messages other than what the trial record established. At trial, the State never attempted to authenticate the text messages other than the sister testifying that she took a picture of the phone messages with her Ipad. App. at 105, ll 6-7.

Had trial counsel made a proper objection either during the direct examination of the sister of the complaining witness or during the cross examination of Mr. Gaskins, the State

---

<sup>3</sup> Also, Officer Robert J. Perry testified that when the incident was first reported he specifically asked “[I]f anybody had any information that could corroborate some of the stuff [complaining witness] had stated.” App. 348, ll 2-3. He previously had testified he believed her sister was present. App. at 347, ll 23-24.

would have been required to authenticate the messages. The failure to make a proper objection, enabled the state to use the text messages, which were never introduced or authenticated, to impeach Mr. Gaskins. The discrepancies in the messages were significant and call into question the authenticity of the texts. A proper examination of the messages easily could have convinced the jury they were not from Mr. Gaskins and the witness was not truthful when she said they were. No defendant in a criminal case should ever be subject to cross-examination about text messages that the state has not authenticated.

Trial counsel was ineffective in not raising a proper objection to these text messages. Had a proper objection been raised, the State would have been required to authenticate these messages. The testimony at the Post Conviction relief hearing shows that the messages would not have been admissible as they could not have been authenticated as having been sent by Mr. Gaskins.

From a review of the order, the Post Conviction Relief judge did not rule on this issue. As noted above, Mr. Gaskins testified at length as to alleged text message, which were provided to defense counsel on the eve of the trial. The cross-examination of Mr. Gaskins about these messages, when the source of the messages were not authenticated, was prejudicial to Mr. Gaskins.

*Failure of trial counsel to object to text Messages that placed the character of Jerald Gaskins in issue in violation of Rule 404b of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and which messages were not properly authenticated*

The third set of messages introduced at the hearing, applicant's Exhibit № 3, were apparently from October 10, 2014 and present two problems as to their admissibility. The

messages were apparently from a Facebook messenger. They are listed as being between “Jay Fowler” and a minor child under the age of 16. At trial the person named on the messages was represented to be 12 years of age. App. at 444, 1 21. At the top of the page is a hand written notation “Jay Fowler - AKA for Gerald [sic] G.” Neither at trial nor the Post Conviction relief hearing was any information provided to explain who wrote that notation nor as to how anyone determined how “Jay Fowler” is suppose to be Jerald Gaskins. No records from Facebook or an internet provider were introduced to establish this fact. The minor child mentioned in the messages did not testify to confirm this fact. The determination as to who is “Jay Fowler” is sheer speculation at best. Mr. Gaskins was cross-examined about the “Jay Fowler” messages. App. at 444, 1 8 to 445 1 21.

The cross-examination of Mr. Gaskins in reference to the “Jay Fowler” texts was simply devastating to the defense of Mr. Gaskins. The texts imply that while Mr. Gaskins was out on bond for a criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge, he was on Facebook trying to solicit sex from a minor girl. More prejudicial evidence is hard to imagine. Trial Counsel should have objected to this improper cross-examination. The State never attempted at trial or the PCR hearing to introduce any source to verify the “Jay Fowler” in the text messages was in fact Mr. Gaskins.

At the Post Conviction Relief hearing the trial counsel testified he had not seen the “Jay Fowler” messages prior to the PCR hearing. App. at 723, 1 24 to 724, 1 5. This was the second batch of electronic messages that trial counsel had not seen until the PCR hearing.<sup>4</sup> At trial all

---

<sup>4</sup> At the Post Conviction Relief hearing the parties stipulated that the electronic messages introduced into evidence were obtain by Post Conviction Relief counsel from the file of Assistant Solicitor Kristie B. Hodge. Copies of these documents were provided to opposing counsel prior

were presented by the state as being messages from Mr. Gaskins and should have been disclosed prior to trial. Trial counsel should not have to wait until the Post Conviction Relief hearing to receive all his discovery.

These messages presented two problems to which no objections were raised by trial counsel. First, trial counsel failed to object and ask for a good faith basis for asking about messages from a “Jay Fowler” and the good faith basis for the State to believe they were from Mr. Gaskins. Second, the messages imply that Mr. Gaskins is having an inappropriate conversation with a 12 year old girl. Such evidence is not relevant. This evidence under Rule 404b of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence would have been excluded as improper character evidence. Even if somehow admissible, the evidence falls far short of the clear and convincing standard imposed by our courts. From this record it is neither clear nor convincing that the messages were in fact from Mr. Gaskins. The failure to object to these messages was certainly prejudicial to Mr. Gaskins. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object both as to a good faith basis for the questions and failing to object as to improper character evidence under Rule 404b of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

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