RECEIVED

Oct 27 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Greenville County
The Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Trial Judge
The Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000907

JERALD D. GASKINS, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

³ The PCR court declined to address this issue after Petitioner brought the omission to its attention through the motion to alter or amend the judgment. App. 771-72, 783-84, 793-95.

the author of the messages. App. 724. He testified that it was his understanding from a previous ruling from the trial court that the solicitor could question Petitioner about the messages and would be stuck with whatever answer Petitioner gave. App. 724-25. Trial counsel agreed with Petitioner that the solicitor had cross-examined him about the messages in order to create a belief in the jurors' minds that Petitioner had been trying to talk to Anglin's daughter. App. 725-26.

As an initial matter, Petitioner's assertions that he was "cross-examined about" the messages is an inaccurate characterization of the record. Brief of Petitioner at 11. As already noted, the solicitor asked Petitioner if he knew Anglin's daughter, had created the Fowler profile, and had sent a friend request from that profile to the girl, but she never asked him about messages. Petitioner argues that the content of the messages imply that Petitioner was trying to solicit sex from a minor while out on bond for the underlying crimes, but the jury never heard or saw the messages or was made aware that any such messages existed. Petitioner argues that the solicitor lacked a good faith basis "for asking about [the] messages from a 'Jay Fowler' and a good faith basis to believe that they were from" Petitioner, but the solicitor did not ask about the messages; Petitioner argues that the messages' implication that Petitioner was conversing inappropriately with a twelve-year-old girl is not relevant, but the jury did not hear of the messages' existence or content, and thus, could not have picked up on any such of implication; and Petitioner argues that "[t]his evidence," i.e., the messages, constituted improper character evidence, but the jury did not know of the messages. Brief of Petitioner at 12. Petitioner's entire argument concerns the existence and content of the messages and asserts, or at least assumes, that the jury knew of the same. No possible harm could have come to Petitioner's defense from evidence that was not admitted, introduced, or even mentioned during the trial.

Petitioner has failed to prove that trial counsel's performance was deficient due to trial counsel's not objecting to the solicitor's questions about the Fowler profile. The solicitor did not testify at the PCR hearing and, as a consequence, her basis for asking about the profile is not known, but the solicitor's questions surely indicate that she had some reason to think that Petitioner was behind the Fowler profile; regardless, details of the messages are clues for this Court that Petitioner was behind them. For example, the author wrote that he was home alone because "Angel" [sic] was elsewhere, that he and others had been planning to go to the Anglin's daughter's home until "angel" changed her mind, that he was not allowed to be around the girl and others alone on "Angels orders" due to the fact that "Angel" was "jealous," that he wanted to know if the girl was getting dressed up for a visit for the benefit for him or for "angel," and that he was coming to visit the girl while he was being accompanied by "Angel"; the girl asked the author why he would want to date her when he was "with angel." Supp. App. 37-40, 47, 61, 65-66. "Angel" could easily be a nickname for Angelina Campbell, to whom Petitioner was engaged at the time of trial. App. 445. Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that Campbell had previously been his fiancée, and that she was the mother of his third child. App. 682, 694-95. The messages' author wrote that he was not allowed to be on his own around "females," which undoubtedly included the twelve-year-old girl, because "Angel" was jealous, which is similar to Jamie's testimony that Petitioner told her that the Mucienkos were jealous of the victim. App. 116; Supp. App. 39-40. The messages' author told the girl that he wanted to "spoil" her, which matched what the victim said that Petitioner told her that he wanted to do to her. App. 190-92. Supp. App. 41. The author said that he was going to buy a Halloween costume for the girl, which is similar to the evidence that Petitioner bought gifts for the victim and her friend, both of whom were minors at the time. App. 73, 99, 252-53, 288, 293, 422; Supp. App. 40-41. The author wrote that he liked the girl because, among other

reasons, she was not “about drama or telling on people,” which, coupled with the timing of the messages and the events going on in Petitioner’s life at the time, sounds like something Petitioner would say if he wanted to continue his sexual advances on children while his criminal case was pending without incurring further detection. Supp. App. 42. The author referenced his being older than the victim and inquired into whether the age difference bothered the girl; when she asked what he thought people would say about their being in a relationship despite the age difference, the author wrote, “Well I wouldnt let know one no right now.” Supp. App. 44-48, 50. Considering the criminal trouble that Petitioner was facing at the time, he would likely have had the same concerns about it being known publicly that he was engaged in a romantic relationship with yet another minor female. The girl answered, “Oh yea I knew that,” which would also fit Petitioner’s situation because, as Petitioner testified, it was known generally that he was facing sexual abuse allegations from the victim at the time. Supp. App. 48. If the solicitor believed that the circumstances surrounding the Fowler messages resembled the details of Petitioner’s behavior with respect to the victim and her friend, she did so justifiably, and would have therefore had a good faith basis for asking Petitioner if he was behind the Fowler profile.

Petitioner has failed to prove that, even if trial counsel had objected to the solicitor’s questions about the Fowler profile, there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of trial would have been different. The Fowler messages were not admitted, so the jury’s knowledge of the Fowler profile was limited to the facts that Petitioner denied that he was behind the profile and denied that he sent a Facebook friend request to Anglin’s daughter. As trial counsel testified, the solicitor was “stuck with” Petitioner’s denial. App. 724-25. The trial court told the jury preliminarily that there were only two sources of evidence: witness testimony and exhibits. App. 36. The trial court later charged the jury that nothing but testimony and exhibits, even the lawyers’

statements, were evidence. App. 498. Although this second charge specifically refers to the parties' closing arguments, it would apply implicitly to the lawyers' questions for the witnesses. The jury heard testimony directly from the victim about Petitioner's actions, and heard corroborating testimony from the victim's friend and family members and from Rachel. The solicitor's few questions about the Fowler profile and Petitioner's denials had negligible effect on the jury's verdict, if any.

D. Petitioner did not preserve for this Court's review his claim that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for not objecting to the solicitor's cross-examination of him about social media messages that the prosecution's Rule 404(b) witness had received from the "Jay Fowler" Facebook profile; notwithstanding the lack of preservation, Petitioner's claim fails on the merits.

H. Barton ("Barton"), the victim's friend, testified at trial about the criminal sexual acts that Petitioner committed against her while she was a minor, the details of which were shockingly similar to his sexual acts against the victim. App. 306-27. The solicitor offered Barton's testimony as a common scheme or plan exception. App. 236, 240. After trial counsel objected and asked for precedential case law to be overturned, the solicitor proffered Barton's testimony. App. 243-56. The trial court heard argument from the parties and overruled trial counsel's objection. App. 256-67. When the solicitor was cross-examining Petitioner, she asked him about his relationship with Barton, and Petitioner answered that he did not know her, that he had met her on about two occasions, and that he had never "hung out" with her. App. 454. The solicitor asked if Petitioner had sat in the car with Barton and talked about music, which was something that Barton had already testified about. App. 310, 454. The solicitor asked if Petitioner had sent a message to Barton on Facebook ("the Barton message") two weeks previously asking for her to call him, and Petitioner denied that he had done so. App. 454. The solicitor asked if Petitioner had sent the message using the Fowler profile, and Petitioner answered, "Maybe not. Prove that, ma'am." App. 454-55. The

solicitor did not seek to introduce the messages to Barton or call Barton as a reply witness to testify about the matter.

The PCR court's order of dismissal noted that Petitioner alleged that trial counsel had not objected to the solicitor's questions "regarding text messages or Facebook messages," but apparently did not specifically address the Barton messages. App. 771-72. Petitioner's motion to alter or amend the judgment did not ask the PCR court to make findings regarding Petitioner's arguments as to the Barton messages. App. 782-88. Petitioner argues now that his motion highlighted the PCR court's failure to address the claim. However, that argument is incorrect because Petitioner addressed in his motion, on the pages he cites in his Brief, only the solicitor's "cross examination . . . concerning the daughter of Jennifer Anglin," and even cited to pages of the trial transcript on which the solicitor asked questions about Anglin's daughter but not any questions about the Barton message. App. 783. Petitioner asked the PCR court to make findings to address other claims that were properly raised by not addressed in the order of dismissal, but he did not do so with regard to this claim about the Barton message. This Court should decline to address issue now.

Notwithstanding Petitioner's failure to preserve this issue for this Court's review, his claim fails on the merits. Petitioner's argument that trial counsel had a duty to object to the solicitor's questions on the ground of the lack of authentication of the Barton message is incorrect because the requirement of authentication applies to exhibits, not testimony. "The requirement of authentication . . . is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." Rule 901(a) (emphasis added); *see, e.g., State v. Hall*, Op. No. 5919 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 22, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 22 at 34) (finding that the trial court's error in not admitting Snapchat video messages was harmless). If the solicitor had tried to introduce

a photocopy of the Barton message while cross-examining Petitioner, the message would not have been admissible due to the lack of authentication, absent confirmation of authenticity from Petitioner, but because the solicitor did not try to do so, the requirement of authentication was not triggered by the questions.

Additionally, this Court has already determined that Barton's testimony was properly admitted under the common scheme or plan exception to the prohibition on evidence of prior bad acts. This Court found on direct appeal that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the testimony. App. 618. This Court's opinion indicates that the Court found that "the vast majority of [Barton's] specific allegations directly aligned" with the victim's testimony. App. 618 (quotation omitted). Petitioner denied at trial that he had engaged in sexual intercourse with Barton, disputing her testimony. App. 421. The solicitor's question about the Barton message was a follow-up to that earlier testimony, and as Petitioner denied communicating with Barton, the solicitor was entitled to question Petitioner about his alleged post-arrest communications with Barton. App. 419-21.

E. Petitioner has failed to prove that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of his trial would have been different had trial counsel objected more thoroughly to the solicitor's cross-examination of Petitioner about a no-contact order.

While cross-examining Petitioner, the solicitor elicited testimony from him that he was engaged to Campbell and that Campbell was sitting in the courtroom. App. 445-46. The solicitor asked Petitioner if there was a no-contact order in place between him and Campbell due to an "active charge with her," and then essentially engaged in a back-and-forth dispute with Campbell over whether that order was still in effect. App. 446-47. Eventually, trial counsel objected to the solicitor's engaging in argument with Petitioner, and the trial court sustained the objection. The solicitor then asked again if Petitioner had an "active charge with [Campbell]," and Petitioner answered that he was apologetic if he did, but that he was not sure because he thought that the

charge was being dismissed due to Campbell's testimony or statement. App. 447. The solicitor did not question Petitioner about the matter further. The PCR court correctly found that trial counsel objected to questions about a criminal charge concerning Petitioner's fiancée, even if Petitioner wishes that trial counsel's objection had been for a different reason than the one given at trial. App. 772, 784.

Petitioner has not proven that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of trial would have been different had trial counsel objected more thoroughly or differently to the solicitor's questions.⁴ While the exchange admittedly did communicate the solicitor's belief about the lack of credibility in Petitioner's testimony that there was not a no-contact order, Petitioner's credibility was already thoroughly rebutted through the other evidence presented at trial. Petitioner, by that point, was already at odds with the testimony given by Sandra, Jamie, Rachel, the victim, and Barton. Petitioner testified that all involved were lying and that he was the victim of false accusations, as he had been for his entire life. App. 439. Trial closing's closing argument was that "these people got together and they made this up . . ." App. 479. The jury's determination about the credibility of Petitioner's testimony did not depend on the brief exchange about a no-contact order between him and Campbell. *See Gilchrist v. State*, 350 S.C. 221, 228, 565 S.E.2d 281, 285 (2002) (finding that the post-conviction relief applicant was prejudiced by his lawyer's failure to object to the solicitor's vouching for a witness because the witness was the prosecution's key witness and the jury could have convicted the applicant only if it had believed that that witness was telling the truth, and the witness's credibility was questionable).

⁴ The PCR court did not make any findings as to the prejudice prong of *Strickland* with respect to this claim.

F. This Court should deny Petitioner’s request that South Carolina begin applying the theory of cumulative errors because Petitioner failed to preserve the argument for appellate review; notwithstanding the lack of preservation, the theory deviates from the correct prejudice analysis prescribed by *Strickland*; furthermore, even if the Court applies the theory, Petitioner has not proven that the theory entitles him to post-conviction relief.

This Court should not consider Petitioner’s argument about the theory of cumulative errors. Petitioner did not specifically argue at the PCR hearing that our South Carolina courts should adopt the theory and apply it in his case. The PCR court’s order of dismissal did not address the theory at all. App. 770-80. Petitioner did not ask the PCR court to make any findings regarding the theory in his motion to alter or amend the judgment. App. 782-88. Petitioner’s argument is not properly before this Court now. Notwithstanding Petitioner’s failure to preserve the issue, this Court should reject Petitioner’s argument because this Court is required to consider the prejudice of the alleged errors individually and because, even if the theory of cumulative errors is applied, Petitioner has failed to prove that trial counsel committed multiple errors.

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